2015

**Utah Alunite Corp. and the Utah School and Institutional Trust  
Lands Administration, Petitioners-Appellants, v. Kent T. Jones,  
p.e., Utah State Engineer, and Central Iron County Water  
Convservancy District, a Utah Water Conservancy District,  
Respondents-Appellees.**

Utah Court of Appeals

## **I. JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(f) and (4).

## **II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellants Utah Alunite Corp. (“UAC”) and Utah School and Institutional Trust Lands Administration (“SITLA”) appeal the dismissal of their petition seeking judicial review of an order of Appellee Kent L. Jones (the “State Engineer”) approving an application to appropriate water. UAC and SITLA petitioned for judicial review of the State Engineer’s order pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a). That statute, which specifically governs the right of judicial review of such orders, allows “[a] person aggrieved by an order of the state engineer” to obtain judicial review in accordance with Title 63G, Chapter 4 of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (“UAPA”).

Inferring a term into the text of Section 73-3-14(1)(a) that does not exist, the district court found only a “party” to the underlying adjudicative proceeding is allowed to seek judicial review under the statute. As explained below, UAC and SITLA had no opportunity to participate in that proceeding because the State Engineer waited nearly eight years to rule on the application in question. Finding UAC and SITLA were not parties to the proceeding, the district court dismissed the petition for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. But the circumstances of this case are not so simple—UAC and SITLA have a direct and competing interest in the same water. And even though they were unable to maintain party status, the State Engineer issued the order after fully considering UAC and SITLA’s competing interest in the application.

UAC and SITLA appeal and raise the following issues:

**ISSUE NO. 1:** Did the district court err in holding that UAC and SITLA must be “parties” to obtain judicial review of an order of the State Engineer when Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a) allows a “person aggrieved” by the order to seek judicial review?

Standard of Review: The Court reviews questions of statutory interpretation for correctness and affords no deference to the district court’s legal conclusions. *Marion Energy, Inc. v. KFJ Ranch P’ship*, 2011 UT 50, ¶ 12, 267 P.3d 863.

Preservation: This issue was presented to the district court in briefing in support of and in opposition to the State Engineer’s motion to dismiss. (R.55-57, 78-79, 92-95, 271-72, 307-11.) The district court addressed the issue in its order granting the motion to dismiss. (R.356-58.)

**ISSUE NO. 2:** Did the district court err when it failed to consider whether UAC and SITLA satisfied exceptions to the requirement to exhaust administrative remedies under Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-401(2)(b)?

Standard of Review: When considering a motion to dismiss, the Court must “accept the factual allegations in the complaint as true and draw all reasonable inferences from those facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiff.” *Nebeker v. Utah State Tax Comm’n*, 2001 UT 74, ¶ 2, 34 P.3d 180 (internal quotation marks, citation, and brackets omitted). A district court’s dismissal of a claim for failure to exhaust administrative remedies is reviewed for correctness. *See id.* at ¶ 9. As noted, the district court’s interpretation of a statute is reviewed for correctness. *Marion Energy*, 2011 UT 50, ¶ 12.

Preservation: This issue was presented to the district court in UAC and SITLA’s petition for judicial review (R.9-10), and in briefing in support of and in opposition to the

State Engineer's motion to dismiss (R.95-98, 274-77, 310).

### **III. DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITY**

Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a): "A person aggrieved by an order of the state engineer may obtain judicial review in accordance with Title 63G, Chapter 4, Administrative Procedures Act, and this section."

Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-401(2): "A party may seek judicial review only after exhausting all administrative remedies available, except that: ... (b) the court may relieve a party seeking judicial review of the requirement to exhaust any or all administrative remedies if: (i) the administrative remedies are inadequate; or (ii) exhaustion of remedies would result in irreparable harm disproportionate to the public benefit derived from requiring exhaustion."

### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **A. Nature of the Case**

This appeal concerns UAC and SITLA's right to obtain judicial review of an order of the State Engineer pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14 and in accordance with Utah Code Ann. §§ 63G-4-401 and -402. The district court held it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over UAC and SITLA's petition for judicial review because neither was a party to the adjudicative proceeding before the State Engineer. (R.356-58.) The district court also found that UAC and SITLA did not exhaust all available administrative remedies but failed to consider whether they should be relieved of such requirements under the unusual circumstances of this case. (R.358-60.) UAC and SITLA appeal from the district court's final order and respectfully ask this Court to reverse the district court.

**B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below**

On October 17, 2006, Appellee Central Iron County Water Conservancy District (“CICWCD”) filed an Application to Appropriate Water Number 69-101 (A76677) with the State Engineer, seeking to appropriate 12,000 acre feet (“af”) of groundwater annually from Wah Wah Valley, Beaver County, Utah. (R.4 at ¶ 12.) Just over a month later, in November 2006, the State Engineer published notice of the application, as required by Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-6. (R.14.) Nearly four years later, in July 2010, the State Engineer conducted hearings on CICWCD’s application. (R.4 at ¶ 16; R.16.)

But it was not until May 13, 2014, that the State Engineer issued the Order for Application to Appropriate Water No. 69-101 (A76677) (the “CICWCD Order”). (R.5 at ¶ 18; R.14-23.) The CICWCD Order approved CICWCD’s appropriation of 6,525 af of water annually from the Wah Wah Valley. (*Id.*) On June 2, 2014, UAC and SITLA and Beaver County filed separate requests for reconsideration of the CICWCD Order. (R.5 at ¶ 21; R.107-18.) The State Engineer took no action on either request, and the requests were effectively denied on June 22, 2014. (*See* R.5 at ¶ 21.)

On July 21, 2014, UAC and SITLA filed a petition for judicial review in the Fifth District Court, Beaver County, seeking de novo review of the CICWCD Order pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14. (R.1-37.) Neither the State Engineer nor CICWCD answered. Instead, the State Engineer moved to dismiss the petition for lack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1). (R.50-51.) CICWCD joined in the motion. (R.78-79.) UAC and SITLA opposed the motion with argument and a declaration of counsel. (R.84-251.)

The district court found it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the petition and granted the motion to dismiss. (R.320-29.) On October 8, 2014, the district court issued a final order and ruling. (R.351-61.) UAC and SITLA filed a notice of appeal on October 1, 2014 (R.331-33), and an amended and renewed notice of appeal on October 10, 2014 (R.377-79).

**C. Statement of Facts**

**1. In 2006, CICWCD Applied for Significant Water Rights Far Outside Its Service Area, in the Desert Valleys of Beaver County.**

CICWCD is a water conservancy district serving certain municipalities and unincorporated areas in and around Iron County, Utah. (R.2 at ¶ 5.) According to its own reports, by 2060, CICWCD will have a maximum water supply need of 11,470 af per year above its current needs. (R.3 at ¶ 11.) To meet that need, on October 17, 2006, CICWCD sought significant water rights in Beaver County. (R.3-4 at ¶¶ 11-15.) In three separate applications filed with the State Engineer, CICWCD applied to appropriate 37,000 af of groundwater from Wah Wah, Pine, and Hamblin Valleys<sup>1</sup>—over three times the water needed to meet its 2060 demands. (R.4 at ¶¶ 12-15.)

Beaver County lies to the north of Iron County, and the areas CICWCD serves are located considerable distances from Wah Wah, Pine, and Hamblin Valleys. For instance, CICWCD's service area is located in a drainage system completely separate from Wah

---

<sup>1</sup> As noted, Wah Wah, Pine, and Hamblin Valleys are located in Beaver County, although a portion of Pine and Hamblin Valleys extends into Iron County. The three valleys neighbor one another, with Pine Valley lying to the west of Wah Wah Valley and Hamblin Valley lying to the west of Pine Valley. (R.3 at ¶ 8.)

Wah Valley's groundwater aquifer, and its high-demand areas are nearly 50 miles from the well sites in Wah Wah Valley. (R.5 at ¶ 22.) Despite the distance, CICWCD filed an Application to Appropriate Water Number 69-101 (A76677), seeking to appropriate 12,000 af of groundwater annually from Wah Wah Valley. (R.4 at ¶ 12.) From Pine Valley, CICWCD applied to appropriate 15,000 af of groundwater annually, and from Hamblin Valley, 10,000 af of groundwater annually. (R.4 at ¶¶ 13-14.)

This appeal concerns CICWCD's application to appropriate groundwater from Wah Wah Valley. It was estimated that approximately 7,250 af of water was available for appropriation per year from Wah Wah Valley's groundwater system (R.3 at ¶ 9), and CICWCD's application sought to appropriate all of that water. In November 2006, just over a month after receiving CICWCD's application, the State Engineer published notice of the application. (R.14.) Publication of the notice triggered a 20-day window for persons interested in the application to file a protest with the State Engineer. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-7(1)(a). But it was not until July 2010 when the State Engineer conducted hearings on CICWCD's application. (R.4 at ¶ 16; R.16.)

**2. In 2012, UAC and SITLA Applied for Water Rights in Wah Wah Valley for the Blawn Mountain Project.**

UAC and SITLA were not protestants to CICWCD's application and did not participate at the July 2010 hearing. (R.4 at ¶ 17.) They did not for the simple reason that they had no interest in Wah Wah Valley's groundwater in either November 2006 or

July 2010.<sup>2</sup> It was not until April 2011 that UAC entered into a three-year agreement with SITLA to explore a possible mining development to be located on SITLA-owned lands within Wah Wah Valley. (R.6 at ¶ 27.) The development, known as the “Blawn Mountain Project,” is composed of four areas of high-quality alunite ore covering approximately 11,500 acres. (R.6 at ¶ 28.) Alunite is a sulfate mineral ore used in the production of sulphate of potash and alumina. (*Id.*)

Current estimates indicate that the Blawn Mountain Project has a mine life of at least 40 years. (R.6 at ¶ 30.) It requires 6,500 af of water annually. (R.7 at ¶ 35.) Based on the water needed for the Blawn Mountain Project, on August 21, 2012, UAC and SITLA filed an Application to Appropriate Water Number 69-115 (A79462). (R.7 at ¶ 36.) The application sought to appropriate 6,500 af of groundwater annually from Wah Wah Valley. (*Id.*) The State Engineer published notice of the application in September 2012. (R.187.) Based on its competing application for water rights in Wah Wah Valley, CICWCD protested UAC and SITLA’s application. (R.7 at ¶ 37.)

The State Engineer held a hearing on UAC and SITLA’s application in November 2013. (R.7 at ¶ 38; R.187.) At the time of the hearing, CICWCD’s application for water rights in Wah Wah Valley had been pending before the State Engineer for over seven years. Because UAC and SITLA and CICWCD maintained related and competing

---

<sup>2</sup> There are no factual allegations in the record regarding what interest UAC or SITLA may have had in Wah Wah Valley’s unappropriated water before November 2006 or July 2010. The factual allegations before the district court were limited to UAC and SITLA’s petition for judicial review (R.1-37) and their opposition to the State Engineer’s motion to dismiss (R.103-251).



applications, the State Engineer's office informed UAC that the State Engineer would consider and decide the applications together and issue an order on UAC and SITLA's application in conjunction with an order on CICWCD's application. (R.105 at ¶ 9.) And as a protestant to the application, CICWCD fully participated in the hearing, asserting support for its application for rights to the same water source. (See R.7 at ¶ 37; R.191.)

In March 2014, SITLA granted UAC a long-term mining lease to develop and operate the Blawn Mountain Project. (R.6 at ¶ 29.) To date, UAC has invested over \$30 million on activities relating to the exploration, permitting, and development of the project. (R.6 at ¶ 31.) Construction of the Blawn Mountain Project is scheduled to begin within three years. (R.7 at ¶ 33.) It is estimated that the project will create over 2,500 jobs during construction and as many as 500 jobs long term, and annually generate over \$50 million in federal, state, and local taxes. (R.7 at ¶¶ 33-34.) In addition to aiding the local economy, the project throughout its life will generate over \$1.1 billion in mineral royalty payments to SITLA for the benefit of Utah's public schools. (R.7 at ¶ 34.)

**3. In Orders Issued a Day Apart, the State Engineer Granted CICWCD Perpetual Water Rights in Wah Wah Valley but Limited UAC and SITLA's Water Rights to a Fixed Term, Subject to CICWCD's Rights.**

The State Engineer issued the CICWCD Order on May 13, 2014—nearly eight years after publishing notice of CICWCD's application and nearly four years after holding a hearing on the application. (See R.5 at ¶ 18.) In a second order issued the same day, the State Engineer approved CICWCD's appropriation of 15,000 af of water annually from Pine Valley. (R.5 at ¶ 19.) A day later, on May 14, 2014, the State

Engineer issued Order for Application to Appropriate Water No. 69-115 (A79462) in the names of UAC and SITLA (the "UAC Order"). (R.7-8 at ¶ 39.)

The UAC Order approved UAC and SITLA's application for 6,500 af of water annually from Wah Wah Valley for a fixed 20-year period, subject to CICWCD's senior water right of 6,525 af annually. (*Id.*) The State Engineer later amended the UAC Order and issued Amended Order for Application to Appropriate Water No. 69-115 (A79462) (the "UAC Amended Order"). (R.8 at ¶ 40; R.187-194.) The UAC Amended Order changed UAC and SITLA's annual water right from a fixed 20-year period to a fixed 30-year period, still subject to CICWCD's senior water right. (*Id.*)

Structuring the two orders in that way, the State Engineer anticipated that UAC and SITLA's and CICWCD's respective water rights in Wah Wah Valley could coexist, but they do not. (*See* R.191-92 (UAC Amended Order: "[I]t is believed that Water Right Numbers 69-101 and 69-115 can reasonably be expected to coexist due to several factors.").) The two orders leave UAC and SITLA without a secure water source for the Blawn Mountain Project. (*See* R.9-11.) The orders also leave them hostage to CICWCD's speculative development of a water right it does not need, as its future needs are already met by its water rights in Pine Valley. (*See id.*)

Despite its senior water right, CICWCD filed a request for reconsideration of the UAC Amended Order. (R.196-99.) The State Engineer took no action on the request, and CICWCD filed a petition for judicial review on the UAC Amended Order. (R.201-30.) UAC and SITLA also filed a petition for judicial review on the UAC Amended Order. (R.232-51.) Those petitions are pending before the district court. To date,

CICWCD has not obtained the required financing to develop its water rights in Wah Wah Valley. (R.6 at ¶ 25.) Without a secure water right for the economic life of the Blawn Mountain Project, UAC will not be able to develop and operate the project. (R.8 at ¶ 42.)

## V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred as a matter of law finding UAC and SITLA had to be a “party” to obtain judicial review of the CICWCD Order. The district court ignored the express reference to a “*person* aggrieved by an order of the state engineer” under Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a)—the specific and controlling statute—and the recognized difference between a “person” and a “party.” (Emphasis added.) Based on the plain language of Section 73-3-14, the legislature did not limit judicial review of a State Engineer order to a “party” alone. To find otherwise, the district court improperly rewrote the statute, inferred a substantive term into the text that is not there, and acted contrary to the presumption that the legislature used each word advisedly.

As “person[s] aggrieved” by an order of the State Engineer, UAC and SITLA have standing to seek judicial review so long as they exhausted available administrative remedies as required by Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-401. But the statute also provides that exhaustion is not required in every case. Exceptions to exhaustion requirements arise when the administrative remedies were inadequate, would serve no useful purpose, or result in irreparable harm. The district court, however, failed to consider whether UAC and SITLA may be relieved from exhaustion requirements. That was error given the nearly eight-year delay between the filing and decision on CICWCD’s application, the change of circumstances that occurred over that time, UAC and SITLA’s competing

application for rights to the same water, and the fact that the State Engineer considered and decided the competing applications together.

## VI. ARGUMENT

### A. Because UAC and SITLA Are “Person[s] Aggrieved” by the CICWCD Order, They Can Obtain Judicial Review of the Order Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a).

#### 1. The Plain Language of Section 73-3-14(1)(a) Allows a “Person Aggrieved” to Obtain Judicial Review of a State Engineer’s Order and Does Not Limit Judicial Review to a “Party.”

The district court erred as a matter of law when it interpreted Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a) to mean that only a “party” can seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer. Section 73-3-14(1)(a) grants standing to a certain class of individuals to seek judicial review of a State Engineer order: “[a] *person* aggrieved by an order of the state engineer may obtain judicial review in accordance with Title 63G, Chapter 4 [of the UAPA], and this section.” (Emphasis added.) Yet, according to the district court, Sections 63G-4-401 and -402 of the UAPA limit judicial review of informal adjudicative proceedings before the State Engineer to only “parties.” (R.356-58.) The district court’s interpretation does not conform to well-settled statutory interpretation principles.

A statute must be interpreted according to its plain language. *Marion Energy*, 2011 UT 50, ¶¶ 14-15 (“When the meaning of a statute can be discerned from its language, no other interpretive tools are needed.” (internal quotations marks, brackets, and footnote omitted)). The courts must assume “that the legislature used each term advisedly according to its ordinary and usually accepted meaning” and “presume[ ] that the expression of one [term] should be interpreted as the exclusion of another.” *Id.* at ¶

14 (internal quotation marks and footnotes omitted; brackets original). They cannot “infer substantive terms into the text that are not already there” or “rewrite the statute to conform to an intention not expressed.” *Berrett v. Purser & Edwards*, 876 P.2d 367, 370 (Utah 1994).

The plain language of Section § 73-3-14(1)(a) does not require party status to obtain judicial review of an order of the State Engineer. It allows a “person aggrieved” to challenge an order. While neither Section 73-3-14 nor the remaining provisions of the water appropriation statute defines “person,” the UAPA does: “an individual, group of individuals, partnership, corporation, association, ... governmental subdivision or its units, public or private organization or entity of any character, or another agency.”<sup>3</sup> Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-103(1)(g). “Party,” however, is defined in more restrictive terms: “the agency or other person commencing an adjudicative proceeding, all respondents, all persons permitted by the presiding officer to intervene in the proceeding, and all persons authorized by statute or agency rule to participate as parties in an adjudicative proceeding.”<sup>4</sup> Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-103(1)(f).

Thus a “person” and a “party” are not the same. The remaining provisions of Section 73-3-14 confirm this, as the use of the term “person” in context verifies that a “person,” as opposed to a “party,” has standing to obtain judicial review of a State

---

<sup>3</sup> The State Engineer’s regulations define “person” the same way. Utah Admin. Code R655-6-3(E).

<sup>4</sup> The definition of “party” under the State Engineer’s regulations also follows the definition provided in the UAPA. Utah Admin. Code R655-6-3(F).

Engineer order. Section 73-3-14(3) addresses what “[a] person who files a petition for judicial review” must do when submitting a petition. In contrast, the following subsection, Section 73-3-14(4), addresses what, “[i]n addition to the requirements of Subsection (3), a *protestant in the adjudicative proceeding* who files a petition for judicial review” must do. (Emphasis added.) If only a “party” can seek judicial review, it makes no sense for the legislature to provide different requirements for “[a] person who files a petition” and “a protestant in the adjudicative proceeding who files a petition.”<sup>5</sup>

**2. Section 73-3-14(1)(a) Controls the Right of Judicial Review of a State Engineer Order, Not the General Provisions of the UAPA.**

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