2015

**Utah Alunite Corp. And the Utah School and Institutional Trust  
Lands Administration, Petitioners/Appellants, v. Kent T. Jones,  
p.e., Utah State Enginner, and Central Iron County Water  
Conservancy District, Defendants/Appellees.**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

#### **I.**

Appellants did not preserve for appellate review the argument they now raise—that “party” status is not required in order to seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer. Because Appellants undisputedly were not parties to the informal adjudication of the District's Application, they cannot seek judicial review under Utah Code Section 73-3-14 and Utah's Administrative Procedures Act, Title 63G, Chapter 4, Part 4.

Even if Appellants preserved their argument for appellate review, the district court was correct in holding that only parties may seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer. The Utah Supreme Court has previously interpreted the phrase “person aggrieved” as used in a former version of Section 73-3-14 to require participation in the adjudicative proceedings. When the legislature enacted Utah's Administrative Procedures Act in 1987, that Section was amended to explicitly incorporate the requirements and procedures of Act, which limits the availability of judicial review of administrative proceedings to “parties.” This is reflected in the Administrative Rules governing judicial review of orders of the State Engineer. Because there is no conflict

between Section 73-3-14 and the Administrative Procedures Act, Appellants' statutory interpretation arguments are inapplicable.

## II.

The district court was correct in refusing to excuse Appellants from exhausting their administrative remedies. Despite having an interest in the land that is to be part of the Blawn Mountain Project at the time the District filed its Application, SITLA chose not to participate in the informal adjudicative proceedings on that Application. It has provided no explanation for not having done so. Even setting this initial decision aside, neither Utah Alunite nor SITLA made any effort to convert the informal adjudicative proceedings into formal adjudicative proceedings as provided by Utah Code Section 63G-4-202 so that they could intervene in the proceedings as provided by Section 63G-4-207. They had more than three years to do so after entering into the exploration agreement for the Project. The Utah Court of Appeals has previously held that the availability of this approach constitutes an adequate administrative remedy that must be pursued.

To the extent Appellants argue they should be relieved of the exhaustion requirement because they effectively exhausted their administrative remedies through the proceedings on their own application, the Utah Court of Appeals has rejected a nearly identical "collateral exhaustion" requirement. The proceedings on Appellants' application did not involve substantive challenges to the District's Application, nor did it give the District fair notice and an opportunity to be heard in support of its Application.

This is not the unusual case that would warrant an exception to the well established rule that parties must exhaust administrative remedies before seeking judicial review.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT APPELLANTS, AS NON-PARTIES, COULD NOT SEEK JUDICIAL REVIEW.**

##### **A. Appellants Did Not Preserve the Issue of Whether Only “Parties” May Seek Judicial Review of an Order of the State Engineer.**

Appellants argue for the first time on appeal that “party” status is not required in order to be eligible to seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer. In its Motion to Dismiss, the State Engineer pointed to Appellants’ lack of party status as the first reason supporting dismissal. Appellants ignored this argument in their Response, focusing instead on their argument that they had effectively exhausted administrative remedies. As a result, they have failed to preserve for appellate review the issue of whether “party” status is required in order to seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer under Utah Code Sections 73-3-14, 63G-4-401, and 63G-4-402.

“Utah law requires parties to preserve arguments for appellate review by raising them first in the forum below . . . .” *Columbia HCA v. Labor Comm’n*, 2011 UT App 210, ¶ 6, 258 P.3d 640. Accordingly, Utah appellate courts “normally will not consider arguments on appeal which were not raised before the trial court.” *Olson v. Park-Craig-Olson, Inc.*, 815 P.2d 1356, 1358 (Utah Ct. App. 1991); *see also Jacob v. Bezzant*, 2009 UT 37, ¶ 34, 212 P.3d 535 (“[W]e do not address arguments brought for the first time on appeal unless the [district] court committed plain error or exceptional circumstances



exist.” (internal quotation marks omitted, second alteration in original)); *Busch Corp. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 743 P.2d 1217, 1219 (Utah 1987) (“Generally, when an argument has not been made in the trial court, we will not allow it to be raised on appeal.”).

In order to preserve an issue for appeal, a party must make a timely and specific objection. *Groberg v. Hous. Opportunities, Inc.*, 2003 UT App 67, ¶ 19, 68 P.3d 1015. “The mere mention of an issue without introducing supporting evidence or relevant legal authority does not preserve that issue for appeal.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). “For an issue to be sufficiently raised, even if indirectly, it must at least be raised to a level of consciousness such that the trial judge can consider it.” *Id.* (quotations and citations omitted). These standards are not met here.

Rather than arguing, as they now do, that “party” status is not required, in their Opposition, Appellants acknowledged that they “were not specifically identified as parties” (R. 92), but asserted that they should be allowed “to proceed as aggrieved parties under UAPA” (R. 86) in light of their participation in the hearing on their own competing application. In this way, Appellants avoided the “party” issue. The entirety of their argument even touching on this issue is found in a footnote:

As set forth herein, the State Engineer and CICWCD argue that neither UAC nor SITLA was a “party aggrieved” under Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-401(1)(a) because neither was a “party” to CICWCD’s application. *See* State Engineer’s Memo. at 3. They do not, however, challenge Petitioners’ status as aggrieved parties on the basis that Petitioners fail to meet traditional standing requirements. *See id.* at 2-5; *see also Wash. Cnty. Water Conservancy Dist. v. Morgan*, 2003 UT 58, ¶ 14, 82 P.3d 1125 (holding party to adjudicative proceeding failed to show particularized injury and did not have standing). To the contrary, Petitioners are clearly an

aggrieved party because the CICWCD Order prevents Petitioners from obtaining the secure water rights necessary to proceed with the Blawn Mountain Project.

(R. 92.)

Even within this argument, Appellants appear to accept the proposition that “party” status is required. They argued that they “are clearly . . . aggrieved part[ies]” (*id.*), not that “party” status is not required. Appellants simply did not argue, as they now do, that because Utah Code Section 73-3-14(1)(a) allows a “person aggrieved” to seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer, the “party” requirement found in Sections 63-4-401 and -402 and Administrative Rule 655-6-18 does not apply.

Allowing Appellants to challenge for the first time on appeal that “party” status is required for judicial review would undermine the “two primary considerations underlying the [preservation] rule” identified by the Utah Supreme Court: judicial economy and fairness. *Patterson v. Patterson*, 2011 UT 68, ¶ 15, 266 P.3d 828. The requirement that “a party . . . raise an issue or argument in the trial court” promotes judicial economy by “giv[ing] the trial court an opportunity to address the claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it,” “avoiding unnecessary appeals and retrials.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks omitted). Because Appellants did not address the State Engineer’s argument that only parties can seek judicial review, the district court did not have an opportunity to consider the statutory interpretation Appellants now advance on appeal.

The lack of opportunity for the district court to consider Appellants’ arguments is closely tied to the second consideration underlying the preservation rule—fairness. As the Utah Supreme Court has explained, “[i]t generally would be unfair to reverse a

district court for a reason presented first on appeal.” *Id.* “Under our adversary system, the responsibility for detecting error is on the party asserting it, not on the court.” *Id.* “Notions of fairness therefore dictate that a party should be given an opportunity to address the alleged error in the trial court.” *Id.* “Having been given such a chance, the party opposing a claim of error might have countered the argument, potentially avoiding the time and expense of appeal.” *Id.*

It would be unfair both to the district court and the District and the State Engineer to allow Appellants to advance their arguments that “party” status is not required for the first time on appeal. Had Appellants raised these arguments in their Opposition, the District and the State Engineer would have had an opportunity to address them in their Replies. The district court thus would have had the opportunity to decide the issue in light of competing interpretations. Notably, the District pointed out in its Reply that Appellants had “ignore[d] the argument contained in the State Engineer’s Memorandum in Support that because [Appellants] were not parties to the informal adjudication of [the District’s] application, they are not entitled to seek judicial review.” (R. 271.) The State Engineer similarly noted Appellants’ lack of argument on the issue. (R. 307 (describing Appellants’ focus on “a factually-based theory of [their] own creation” as “an effort to air-brush out of the picture their lack of party status”).) Despite this, Appellants did not seek leave to file a sur-reply to address the issue.

When a party ignores an issue in this fashion in the district court, Utah appellate courts have routinely refused to consider arguments addressing the issue raised for the first time on appeal. *See, e.g., Busch Corp.*, 743 P.2d at 1219 (refusing to consider

arguments in opposition to a motion for summary judgment on appeal where the plaintiffs “apparently chose below not to oppose [the] motion for summary judgment”); *Fowler v. Teynor*, 2014 UT App 66, ¶ 22, 323 P.3d 594, 599, *reh’g denied* (May 8, 2014), *cert. denied*, 333 P.3d 365 (Utah 2014) (“This theory was not asserted in either the Second Amended Complaint or in [the plaintiff’s] memorandum in opposition to the summary judgment motion. Because this theory was not raised below, we do not consider it here.”); *Jensen v. Skypark Landowners Ass’n*, 2013 UT App 48, ¶ 5, 299 P.3d 609 (refusing to consider the appellant’s argument that “the motion for summary judgment did not comply with rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure” because that argument was not raised in response to the motion). The Court should do the same here.<sup>3</sup>

Because Appellants did not preserve their argument that “party” status is not required in order to seek judicial review, and Appellants undisputedly were not parties to the informal adjudication of the District’s Application, the district court properly dismissed Appellants’ petition. The Court need not reach the issue of whether the district court was correct in refusing to excuse Appellants from the exhaustion requirement.

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellants claim that the issue was preserved. (Appellants’ Br. at 2.) They thus did not argue that exceptional circumstances warrant consideration of their unpreserved argument or that the district court committed plain error. *See Patterson*, 2001 UT 68, ¶ 13 (identifying these as two exceptions to the rule that the Court will not consider unpreserved arguments). Appellants cannot now do so in their Reply. *Allen v. Friel*, 2008 UT 56, ¶ 8, 194 P.3d 903 (“If new issues could be raised in a reply brief, the appellee would have no opportunity to respond to those arguments. It is well settled that issues raised by an appellant in the reply brief that were not presented in the opening brief are considered waived and will not be considered by the appellate court.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

**B. As Non-Parties, Appellants Are Not Entitled to Seek Judicial Review.**

Even if the Court is willing to consider Appellants' newly-raised argument that "party" status is not required, the district court correctly held that only parties can seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer.

Utah Code Section 73-3-14(1) authorizes a "person aggrieved by an order of the state engineer" to "obtain judicial review *in accordance with Title 63G, Chapter 4, Administrative Procedures Act.*" Utah Code Ann. § 73-3-14(1)(a) (emphasis added). Section 63G-4-401, in turn, provides, "A *party* aggrieved may obtain judicial review of final agency action." Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-401(1) (emphasis added). Consistent with the party requirement contained in Section 63G-4-401, Administrative Rule 655-6-18, which governs judicial review of informal proceedings before the Division of Water Rights, provides, "Any *party* aggrieved by an order of the State Engineer may obtain judicial review by following the procedures and requirements of Sections 63G-4-401 and -402 and 73-3-14 and -15." Admin. Code R655-6-18(A) (emphasis added). Thus, under the plain language of the governing statutes and rules, party status is required in order to seek judicial review of an order of the State Engineer.

Indeed, the Utah Supreme Court has previously rejected an argument nearly identical to the one that Appellants now raise: that the use of the phrase "person aggrieved" in Section 73-1-14(1) does not require prior participation in the administrative process—in other words, "party" status. *S&G, Inc. v. Morgan*, 797 P.2d 1085, 1087 (Utah 1990). There, the plaintiff sought judicial review of an order of the State Engineer approving a change application, although it had not participated in the administrative



proceedings before the State Engineer. The plaintiff argued “that substantial economic rights were affected by the administrative decision, making [it] a ‘person aggrieved’ and entitled to judicial review under Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-14 (1980).” *Id.* at 1086. It further claimed that “section 73-3-14 did not impose a requirement of prior participation in the administrative process” as “[t]he statute authorizes judicial review for ‘any person aggrieved by [the state engineer’s] decision.’” *Id.* (first set of internal quotation marks omitted). The Utah Supreme Court flatly rejected this interpretation:

This interpretation ignores policy considerations which apply to all administrative decision making. A requirement of participation at agency level ensures that those who have an interest will bring to the agency’s attention all relevant facts and considerations at the time the agency makes its decision. Moreover, the requirement of [participation] gives the agency and the other participants notice of the identity and concern of interested parties. These observations, although made in the context of a statutory requirement of party status, are applicable to any administrative decision in which interested parties have the right to participate. The requirement of participation as a prerequisite to standing to appeal is a corollary of the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies. *It is well settled under this doctrine that persons aggrieved by decisions of administrative agencies may not, by refusing or neglecting to submit issues of fact to such agencies, by-pass them, and call upon the courts to determine . . . matters properly determinable originally by such agencies.*

*Id.* at 1087 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted, emphasis added).

Although the version of Section 73-3-14(1) at issue in *S&G* contained no “party” requirement, the Utah Supreme Court nevertheless interpreted “person aggrieved” to require participation in the administrative proceeding—*i.e.* “party” status. Notably, the version of Section 73-3-14(1) at issue in *S&G* made no mention of or cross-reference to Utah’s Administrative Procedure Act (UAPA), as that Act had not yet been enacted. When the legislature enacted UAPA in 1987, it amended, as part of that enactment,

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